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REPORT OF INVESTIGATION
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TITLE: Investigation of the potential exposure regarding confidential materials concerning
NOPD Officer, Jeffery Vappie.

LOCATION OF OCCURRENCE: New Orleans, LA

DATE OF OCCURRENCE: Between February 8, 2023 and March 13, 2023

INVESTIGATED BY:

VIOLATIONS:

Investigations Division

The Police Officer Bill of Rights, at La. R.S. 40:2532%, provides that “[n]o
person, agency, or department shall release to the news media, press
or any other public information agency, a law enforcement officer’s
home address, photograph, or any information that may be deemed
otherwise confidential, without the express consent of the law
enforcement officer, with respect to an investigation of the law
enforcement officer.” This confidentiality of information relative to the
investigation of a law enforcement officer is further protected by (1) La.
R.S. 44:4.1 (26)?, which exempts from the State Public Records Law
information that is confidential under La. R.S. 40:2532; and (2) NOPD
Operations Manual, Chapter 13.03 (21)3, which excludes internal
investigation files from an Officer’s personnel jacket, places them under
the exclusive control of PIB, and authorizes only the Superintendent or
the Deputy Chief of PIB to approve access to these files.

Federal Consent Decree between the New Orleans Police Department
and the United States Department of Justice paragraph #4094. “All
misconduct investigation interview recordings shall be stored and
maintained in a secure location within PIB.”

ACTION TAKEN: This report is provided to the City of New Orleans, Chief Administrative
Officer, and the Superintendent of the New Orleans Police Department
(NOPD) for corrective actions to ensure the integrity of future investigation
activities by the NOPD.

! See Exhibit 1, La. R.S. 40:2532.

2 See Exhibit 2, La. R.S. 44:4.1.

3 See Exhibit 3, NOPD Operations Manual, Chapter 13.03.

4 See Exhibit 4, Paragraph #4009 of the Federal Consent Decree between the New Orleans Police Department and
the United States Department of Justice.



BASIS FOR INVESTIGATION

On March 27, 2023, the President of the New Orleans City Council sent a letter to the New
Orleans Office of Inspector General (OIG) requesting the OIG investigate the handling of the
Public Integrity Bureau’s (PIB) investigation into NOPD Officer, Jeffrey Vappie.® The Office of the
Independent Police Monitor (OIPM) alleged that there was an apparent breach of confidentiality
and security at the PIB that compromised the integrity of the Vappie investigation, specifically
referencing the release to the public and media of recordings of 11 witness interviews in the
Vappie investigation prior to the completion of the investigation.

BACKGROUND

The City of New Orleans (City) owns a building known as the Upper Pontalba Building (Upper
Pontalba) which is located on St. Peter Street in the French Quarter and managed and operated
by the French Market Corporation (FMC), a Public Benefit Corporation. There is an apartment in
the Upper Pontalba, known as the Mayor’s Apartment, controlled by the City. The City did not
implement any written rules or guidance relating to the use of the apartment. It was alleged
Mayor Cantrell was utilizing the apartment for personal use and her Executive Protection Detail
(EPD) would routinely accompany her to this location. It was further alleged that a member of
the EPD, Officer Jeffery Vappie, would accompany the Mayor, both on and off-duty. Due to these
allegations, the PIB opened an investigation of Vappie’s conduct.

On March 13, 2023, the Office of Independent Police Monitor (OIPM) sent a letter to City Council
President J.P. Morrell, Federal District Court Judge Morgan, NOPD Deputy Chief of Public Integrity
Bureau Keith Sanchez, and the United States Department of Justice.® This letter informed that 11
recorded interviews conducted by the PIB, from the Vappie investigation, had been released to
members of the public and the media. The OIPM confirmed through a private citizen and review
of the recordings that the recordings were in fact recordings of the interviews conducted by the
PIB during the Vappie investigation.

EXTENT AND RESULTS OF INVESTIGATION

On April 4, 2023, Stella Cziment, the Independent Police Monitor (IPM), was interviewed by OIG
Investigators.” Cziment recalled receiving information on March 9, 2023 from an individual who
claimed they received recordings on a thumb drive two weeks prior. This individual advised
Cziment that she would be interested in the recordings as they are from the NOPD Vappie
investigation. The individual received the recordings from another individual whom they refused

5 See Exhibit 5, City Council Letter dated March 27, 2023 to the OIG.
6 See Exhibit 6, Letter dated March 13, 2023, the OIPM sent a letter to the City Council President J.P. Morrell.
7 See Exhibit 7, Memorandum of Interview of Cziment dated April 4, 2023.



to identify. The individual who possessed the thumb drive also advised her that the recordings in
the Vappie investigation had been released into the public realm. Cziment did not understand
exactly what they were claiming. Cziment attempted to arrange a meeting with the individual but
the individual was unable to meet until Monday March 13, 2023.

According to Cziment, she met with the individual on Monday, March 13, 2023 and they gave her
a thumb drive containing copies of the alleged recordings of NOPD officers interviewed during
the Vappie investigation. She recalled meeting with the individual and the individual was very
vague as to where they obtained the recordings and exactly what the nature of the recordings
were. Cziment stated that she made a copy of the files which she currently maintains on her
notebook computer. When she was asked to provide the name of the individual who provided
her with the thumb drive, Cziment refused to provide the individual’s name. She stated that she
promised the individual confidentiality when she was provided the thumb drive. OIG
investigators advised Cziment that they were unaware of any statute or provision that allows the
OIPM to withhold the identity of an individual of information because they promised the person
that their name would remain confidential. Cziment advised that the OIPM has an internal policy
containing this practice concerning confidentiality and she agreed to provide the OIG with a copy
of the policy. Cziment also contended that the Memorandum of Understanding between her
office and NOPD prevents her from releasing of the name of the individual. (OIG Note: Internal
office policies do not override the City Ordinance requiring cooperation with the OIG or State
Public Records law.)

Cziment connected the thumb drive to the OIPM computer, viewed the contents, and also took
a screen shot showing the contents of the drive. This is the same screen shot she placed in the
March 13, 2023, letter regarding the recordings being released. Cziment also performed what
she called a “spot check” which she described as listening to portions of the recordings. She did
this in an attempt to determine if the content of the drive was what the individual claimed. The
individual advised that the recordings have gone public and stated “everyone has it” including
the media. Despite the individual stating that the recordings were public in the media, Cziment
was still skeptical of the audios’ validity, since there were no news reports.

The OIG asked Cziment if she discussed the receipt of the recordings with anyone. Cziment
replied she initially discussed the receipt of the thumb drive and its reported contents with the
OIPM Legal Counsel Sharonda Williams and the Deputy Independent Police Monitor Bonycle
Sokunbi.

After determining the recordings were interviews in the Vappie investigation, Cziment emailed
NOPD PIB Deputy Chief Sanchez and requested an audit trail of the recordings to identify who
had accessed the recordings and documents. Cziment advised she was concerned about the
release of sensitive information regarding the Vappie investigation. She was interested in
determining who at PIB and the Federal Consent Monitor may have had access to the recordings.



PIB records and documents are maintained on an electronic file repository known as
“evidence.com.” The “evidence.com” platform allows registered users to log into the system,
review, and download files. All recordings created by NOPD officers via body camera are
uploaded to “evidence.com.” Sanchez replied in an email to Cziment that he would provide the
audit trail.

Cziment then discussed the recordings with PIB Deputy Chief Sanchez. Cziment decided that she
had an obligation to advise all interested parties that she possessed the recordings. Cziment had
a suspicion the Vappie investigation was compromised, although she did not know if it had
actually been compromised or not.

Cziment was also concerned about a statement made by Mayor Cantrell in the media regarding
cooperation with investigations.® Mayor Cantrell stated that those in law enforcement should
not comment on her protection detail as it could create a potential security threat and they
should exercise their right to not speak. Cziment believed that the Mayor was instructing law
enforcement officers not to cooperate with the investigation. At a minimum Cziment believed
the statements could be interpreted as such since the statement was made publicly. Cziment was
concerned that the Mayor’s Office could not remain separated from the investigation. Cziment
was also concerned because the City Attorney, Donesia Turner, was acting as the lawyer for both
the NOPD and the Mayor’s Office. (OIG Note: By City Charter the City Attorney is required to
represent both the City and the Mayor.)

Since late November 2022, Cziment has attended a weekly 10:00 a.m. Monday meeting
concerning PIB investigations, including the Vappie investigation. These Zoom meetings were
attended by Cziment, Federal District Court Judge Susie Morgan, the Federal NOPD Consent
Decree Monitor and PIB Deputy Chief Sanchez. During these meetings Sanchez assured attendees
that access to all information developed and records collected during the investigation was being
restricted. Sanchez also noted the information was stored at a remote location. Through the
course of these meetings, Cziment learned how the investigation was being conducted. Legal
issues that arose during the investigation were discussed as well as potential “road blocks.”

During one of these meetings, Cziment raised the question of who is NOPD’s legal representation
regarding the Vappie investigation. Historically the City Attorney has been the lawyer for the
NOPD. However, it was not clear who was the actual attorney representing NOPD and the City in
this matter. Cziment wondered if the NOPD hired outside counsel due to the nature of the Vappie
investigation.

Cziment advised that PIB did not attend the Monday morning meeting on March 13, 2023. She
became concerned about this, particularly after learning the Vappie recordings were released.
During this meeting, Cziment shared the information she received that the interview recordings
were made public.

8 See Exhibit 8, Mayors Press Release dated February 3, 2023.



Cziment did not discuss the recordings with NOPD Superintendent Michelle Woodfork. She
believed it would be a conflict of interest to share her findings with Woodfork because the NOPD
Superintendent is ultimately the deciding official. She also did not contact City Attorney Donesia
Turner about the recordings.

Cziment advised that she did not provide any information to or contact the OIG because of the
possibility of any other investigation being compromised. She did not want any compelled
interviews to be in the possession of an agency conducting a criminal investigation. According to
Cziment, the individual, the news media, and her office has copies of the recordings, indicating
the recordings were not kept confidential, but were in the public domain. It was her hope if the
investigation was still ongoing, and she believed it was, that the City could shield further
information from being released. Specifically, Cziment did not want the release of records that
may include exceptions to any public record request, particularly techniques and tactics used.

Cziment sent the letter to the City Council advising them of her possession of the recordings since
the City Council has the ability to initiate investigations. She further advised that once the
recordings were outside of the NOPD’s possession, the release was outside the scope of the
OIPM.

Judge Morgan requested a special meeting to get an update on the Vappie investigation. Present
at the meeting were Judge Morgan, the Federal Consent Decree Monitor Jonathan Aronie, NOPD
PIB Deputy Sanchez, the City Attorney Donesia Turner, and Cziment. Cziment found it unusual
that the City Attorney was present since the Assistant City Attorney would normally attend.

Cziment also found it unusual that the City Attorney’s Office was participating in the meeting
because it was rare for the City Attorney to become involved in a disciplinary investigation prior
to the completion of the investigation. There have been instances where the City Attorney’s
office was consulted in investigations prior to completion; however, these instances were related
to use of force matters or situations that questioned whether it was a civil or criminal matter.

Cziment recalled during this meeting she raised her concern about the Mayor’s statement
encouraging the lack of cooperation of law enforcement individuals and other statements made
by the Mayor regarding the Vappie investigation. She raised further concern that the NOPD may
be experiencing political pressure regarding the investigation, especially since Mayor Cantrell
appeared to be attempting to have Vappie reinstated to her protection detail.

Cziment sought to remove potential conflict of interest issues from the investigation and wanted
a “firewall.” It was her desire that the Mayor’s Office and NOPD be represented but there should
be no sharing of information. She felt this would provide for a fair, accurate, and complete
investigation.

When asked if she knew of the allegation that the Housing Authority of New Orleans (HANO) was
in possession of the recordings, Cziment replied she heard in the media that the City Attorney’s
Office identified HANO as the department who received the recordings.



Cziment provided the OIG a copy of the email that accompanied her March 13, 2023 letter that
was titled, “Breach of Security regarding NOPD Investigation CTN 2022-0513-R.”

On April 10, 2023, City Council President JP Morrell was Interviewed by OIG Investigators.®
According to Morrell, IPM Cziment contacted him via a text message from her personal cellular
telephone on Monday, March 13,2023 at 4:13 PM. In the text message she asked him if he could
get on a conference call with her and Beldon Batiste. In the text message, Cziment stated, “Hi,
this is Stella from OIPM. Do you have time for an important call with me and Beldon Batiste? He
has something he wants to discuss with us. It is important.” (OIG Note: Batiste is active in local
community and political issues.)

Morrell called Cziment after receiving the text message and Cziment told Morrell she had to get
Batiste on the phone. Cziment created a conference call with Batiste and Morrell. Morrell didn’t
know if Cziment had spoken to Batiste before the conference call. Morrell believes that Batiste
contacted Cziment because Cziment participates in community engagement.

Morrell also believed Cziment subsequently called him because he’s the City Council President
and because he predicted something similar to a leak would occur. Morrell alluded to the
unauthorized release of the recorded interviews of NOPD officers regarding the Vappie
investigation. According to Morrell, the Council has oversight over NOPD and was skeptical about
PIB conducting the Vappie investigation due to a potential conflict of interest.

According to Morrell, Batiste told Cziment and Morrell that he had recordings of police interviews
regarding the Vappie investigation, but would not say where he got them. During the
conversation, Cziment did not mention the need to keep Batiste’s identity confidential.

Batiste asked Morrell if he wanted to see the files and offered to send Morrell copies of the
recordings. Morrell declined because he contends it would be a violation of the Policemen’s Bill
of Rights to possess the recordings. Morrell did not receive copies of the tapes and told Cziment
he did not want any copies. Batiste advised he’d already sent them to Lee Zurik, an investigative
reporter with FOX 8 news. Morrell told Batiste not to share the file with anyone, but does not
recall if Cziment repeated his admonishment to Batiste.

Morrell was concerned about a civilian having evidence from the Vappie investigation because
the Policemen’s Bill of Rights grants confidentiality of investigations.

Morrell advised that Cziment thought it was important to send a letter to all groups involved in
the Consent Decree, including the Federal Monitor and the Judge since the NOPD is currently
under a Federal Consent Decree. During their conversation, Cziment did not mention the OIG.
Morrell did not disagree with Cziment’s plan to send a letter to all parties involved. Morrell
advised Cziment that the letter should be sent to the Department of Justice (DOJ), and Cziment

% See Exhibit 9, Memorandum of Interview of Morrell dated April 10, 2023.



agreed. When Morrell received the letter from Cziment, he forwarded it to all City Council
members.

Morrell received another text message from Cziment on March 13, 2023, at 5:24 PM, 0 that
stated, “Just sent the letter and | have copies of the interviews from Beldon. | decided to include
DOJ as well. Please let me know if you have any questions. Thanks again.”

Morrell, was again contacted by on April 11, 2023,! regarding a text message thread he had
received from Cziment on March 13, 2023. Morrell was asked to provide the telephone number
he received the text message and Morrell did so. The number is not the same as the City
cellphone issued to Cziment.

On April 11, 2023 Bonycle Sokunbi, Deputy Police Monitor, OIPM, sent an email to the OIG*? in
response to the OIG’s request for an explanation of where the OIPM’s confidentiality authority is
derived from. This email claimed the OIPM’s confidentiality is granted through the MOU between
the OIPM and the NOPD as well as the OIPM Manual. A review of the provided material failed to
show any statutory authority which sets forth the ability for the OIPM to grant confidentially to
individuals. Additionally, no state law exists that provides such ability to the OIPM.*3

On April 12, 2023, Cziment was re-interviewed by OIG Investigators.'* Cziment wanted to clarify
that she recently received a response from Chief Sanchez regarding the audit trail of the
recordings in question from the Vappie investigation.

Cziment advised that Beldon Batiste was the individual who contacted her and claimed to have
recordings of interviews conducted during the Vappie investigation. Batiste initially called
Cziment on Thursday, March 9, 2023. They first met on March 13, 2023 at the office of the OIPM
around 12:00 noon. Present were Cziment, Batiste, Sokunbi and an unknown female who
accompanied Batiste.

Cziment asked Batiste when did he think the media would run a story regarding the recordings
and Batiste did not answer. Batiste was asked by Cziment where he obtained the recordings and
again, he did not answer. It was Cziment’s belief he probably obtained the recordings from either
the Mayor’s Office or the City Attorney’s Office. Later in the conversation, Batiste advised that
someone had left the thumb drive in his mail box. This was contrary to his previous statement,

10 See Exhibit 10, Text Message received by Morrell dated March 13, 2023.

11 See Exhibit 11, Memorandum of Interview of Morrell dated April 11, 2023.

12 See Exhibit 12, Email received from Sokunbi dated On April 11, 2023.

13 La. R.S. 33:9614 and R.S. 44:4.1(B)(20) make confidential and exempt from the Public Records Law certain
information and records of the OIG. When the OIPM was a division of the OIG, information and records of the
OIPM were afforded this same protection. However, when the OIPM was separated from the OIG in 2016 by
amendment to the Home Rule Charter and established as an independent office under Charter Section 9-403, this
effectively removed the OIPM from the scope of La. R.S. 33:9614.

14 See Exhibit 13, Memorandum of Interview of Cziment on April 12, 2023.



where Batiste advised someone had given him the drive. Cziment never obtained a clear
explanation from Batiste as to how he obtained the recordings.

According to Cziment, after the first meeting on March 13, 2023, Batiste went to the Federal
building looking for someone to speak with regarding the recordings. He contacted U.S. District
Court Judge Morgan who would not meet with him and did not want a copy of the recordings.
Batiste then went to City Hall where he attempted to meet with City Council President J.P.
Morrell. While Batiste was at City Hall, he called Cziment and told her that he was attempting to
locate Morrell without success. Cziment noted that this was the moment when she decided to
send a letter regarding the release of the recordings to the parties that Batiste was attempting
to contact.

Batiste advised Cziment that he needed proof that she was attempting to help him and that he
was not comfortable with Cziment. Cziment then sent a text message to Councilmember Morrell
from her personal cellular telephone instructing him to call her. Cziment advised that she did so
on her personal cellular phone because that is the number Morrell had saved for her. Cziment
then called Morrell from her work cellular telephone and had a conference call with him and
Batiste concerning the release of the recordings of interviews conducted during the Vappie
investigation. Cziment also told Morrell that she was drafting a letter documenting the release of
the recordings. It was decided between Cziment and Morrell that the letter should be sent to
Judge Morgan, the Federal Consent Decree Monitor, the NOPD Deputy Chief in charge of PIB, the
Department of Justice and Morrell as president of the City Council.

When asked by the OIG why she did not advise the OIG Investigators that she had contacted
Morrell when she was first interviewed, Cziment replied there was no particular reason and that
she must have forgotten to mention that she contacted Morrell about the recordings.

Cziment advised that during the conference telephone call, Morrell seemed surprised to learn
that the recordings were released. According to Cziment, Morrell advised Batiste that he should
provide Cziment with a copy of the recordings. Cziment opined that Batiste probably felt more
comfortable after Morrell advised him to provide a copy of the recordings to Cziment.

Batiste did not want Cziment to send the letter because he did not want his identity released.
Batiste also felt that if the information regarding the release was provided to the NOPD, the
problem would not be taken seriously and nothing would come of the release.

Batiste returned to the office of the OIPM after the conference telephone conversation and met
with Cziment. This was when Cziment transferred a copy of the recordings from the thumb drive
to her OIPM computer.

Cziment also had a telephone conversation with Arlinda Westbrook, former Deputy Chief of PIB
on March 15, 2023. Westbrook asked Cziment why Cziment sent the letter regarding her
possession of the recordings. Cziment advised Westbrook stated that she thought things could
have been handled differently. Westbrook accused her of being emotional and impulsive.



Westbrook told Cziment that she only wanted to resolve the issue and that the recordings would
eventually become public records. Cziment disagreed with Westbrook’s statement and according
to Cziment, she and Westbrook discussed the fact that the recordings were not purposely
released but released due to an error. Westbrook categorized the release as an accident.

Cziment discussed the release with Jonas Geissler, U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights
Division, on March 15, 2023. Geissler wanted to know if the City Attorney and the NOPD had
responded to Cziment's letter.

Subsequently, the Federal Consent Decree Monitor Aronie, City Attorney Donesia Turner and
Cziment participated in a Zoom teleconference. During this teleconference, Turner advised that
the recordings were released from her office inadvertently. Turner did not identify to whom the
recordings were released.

Cziment received a telephone call from a representative of NOPD Superintendent Michelle
Woodwork’s office to schedule a meeting. Subsequently, that afternoon a meeting was held at
the NOPD. In attendance were Woodfork, Turner, Batiste, Sharonda Williams as legal Counsel for
the OIPM, and Cziment. Woodfork was angry that Cziment did not send the letter regarding the
release of the recordings directly to her. Woodfork stated the existence of Cziment’s letter will
make it hard for the NOPD to recruit and retain officers, and cause morale issues at NOPD.

Cziment defended her action of sending the letter by stating she wanted to ensure the integrity
of the Vappie investigation. Cziment advised that she felt that Woodfork should not have been
one of the original recipients of the letter. Cziment noted she sent the letter to NOPD PIB Deputy
Chief Sanchez, whom Cziment felt was a proxy of Woodfork. Woodfork described Cziment’s
explanation as insulting and disrespectful. Woodfork felt blindsided and betrayed by not being
contacted directly regarding the release of the recordings. Woodfork then advised Cziment she
does not use proxies.

Turner also expressed frustration with Cziment issuing the letter because she did not like the fact
the PIB was implicated in the release. According to Turner, the allegation was undermining PIB.
In response to Turner’s complaint, Cziment stated that she wrote the letter alerting of the facts
known to her at the time. And she did not know what individuals were involved, what orders
were given or what matters were discussed by the Mayor, the City Attorney and the NOPD.
Turner then contacted the Mayor and told the Mayor about the release. Turner did not identify
who was responsible for the release of the recordings in this meeting.

Consequently, Cziment did not understand why the recordings were in possession of the City
Attorney’s Office especially if the investigation was not complete. Turner had advised Cziment
that her office was preparing for any potential appeal resulting from any decision regarding
employee discipline.



On April 13, 2023, Donesia Turner, City Attorney, City of New Orleans (City), was interviewed by
OIG Investigators.'®> Turner was given a thumb drive containing records related to the PIB
investigation into Vappie by a NOPD investigator conducting the investigation. She could not
recall the investigator’s name but noted only two investigators from PIB are handling this
investigation. The investigator offered the records to Turner and she was provided a thumb drive
containing copies of the recordings. Turner placed the thumb drive in one of her desk drawers.
Turner could not recall the date she received the thumb drive. Turner noted that the City
Attorney’s Office handles proceedings for PIB once their investigation is over and results are
disclosed. It is not uncommon for the City Attorney’s Office to meet and provide assistance to
PIB if they have questions or issues become apparent during investigations. Turner denied
sharing the recordings or listening to them.

If PIB required assistance from the City Attorney, access to records were available to be reviewed
or listened to through the website “www.evidence.com.” The City Attorney’s Office has a record
room where documents or files are stored. Since the Vappie investigation included sensitive
information, the records were placed on a thumb drive for future review. Turner noted she
received the thumb drive with the Vappie records because she and her office are entitled to
receive them to be used in the course of business of the City Attorney’s Office.

Turner noted a member of the HANO board was removed upon the request of the HANO Board.
That member, Sharon Jasper, was challenging her removal from the board to the City Council. A
special City Council meeting was scheduled on March 8, 2023 and the City Council wanted both
parties to exchange information that would be provided at the meeting. Turner was going to
provide to Jasper videos of HANO Board meetings and placed a thumb drive containing the videos
in an envelope and left it at the front desk. The date upon which this occurred was either March
6, 2023 or March 7, 2023. The envelope containing the thumb drive with the PIB records was
mistakenly placed in the envelope that was picked up by W.C. Johnson, a handler for Jasper.

Turner learned of the accidental release of PIB records on March 14, 2023 when Jonas Geisler
with the Department of Justice, Washington D.C., forwarded a letter to her authored by Stella
Cziment. Based on the contents of Cziment’s letter, Turner contacted Police Chief Woodfork and
told her to take steps to ensure there would be no additional release of information. Turner then
returned to her office and re-read Cziment's letter and began to look for the thumb drive given
to her by the PIB investigator. She found the HANO Board meeting video thumb drive and put it
in her computer. It was at this point Turner realized with 99% certainty that she had mistakenly
given the PIB thumb drive to Jasper via Johnson.

Once Turner realized the mistake, she informed Mayor Cantrell. She then contacted Chief
Woodfork and Aronie and took responsibility for the accidental release of the PIB thumb drive.

15 See Exhibit 14, Memorandum of Interview of Turner dated April 13, 2023.
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Turner also attended a meeting at police headquarters with Woodfork, Cziment, Sokunbi, and
Sharonda Williams. Turner could not recall the date of this meeting. Woodfork wanted to discuss
open lines of dialogue with all parties. Woodfork asked Cziment why she did not come directly to
Woodfork in regard to the suspected leak. Cziment answered that she was not sure if Woodfork
was involved in the suspected PIB leak; however, she drafted a letter to Deputy Chief Sanchez
which described her suspicions. Woodfork told all those present at the meeting that Deputy Chief
Sanchez answered to her. Turner noted there was no mention of any conflicts of interest at this
meeting.

Turner discussed a Zoom meeting on March 15, 2023, between her, Cziment and FCDM Aronie.
During this meeting, Turner told the others what happened with respect to the release of the PIB
thumb drive and then issued a press release regarding this issue. Turner provided a copy of it to
the OIG.1® She denied sharing the contents of the thumb drive, opening the records, reviewing
or listening to any recordings.

Turner further noted that the Vappie investigation had concluded but was not finalized when the
thumb drive was provided to her. According to Turner, Vappie was the last person interviewed
and she was aware of the facts concerning the investigation prior to receiving the thumb drive.
Since Vappie had been reinterviewed, she assumed the investigation was completed. The HANO
Board videos were never picked up by Jasper or Johnson. Turner claimed safeguards have been
put in place to make sure this never happens again. In particular, files are now verified that they
are the correct files prior to being released outside the City Attorney’s Office.

During a conversation between Turner and Cziment, Cziment said she sent her letter to City
Council President, J.P. Morrell. Turner did not attempt to retrieve the thumb drive from Johnson
or Jasper after learning of the mistaken release. Turner advised she now believes that W.C.
Johnson is the individual who provided the recordings to Cziment.

On April 18, 2023, W.C. Johnson, was contacted by OIG Investigators in an attempt to schedule
an interview concerning the release of recordings of interviews conducted during the Vappie
investigation.'” Johnson advised he had no knowledge of the recordings. Johnson was advised by
the OIG that they were aware that Johnson received a copy of the recordings from the City
Attorney’s office. Johnson again stated he had no knowledge of the recordings. An in-person
meeting was requested and Johnson advised that he would not be available until the beginning
of May 2023. Johnson reiterated he had no knowledge of the recordings.

On May 3, 2023, Lt. Lawrence Jones, NOPD, currently assigned to the 6™ District, and formerly
PIB, was interviewed by OIG Investigators.'® Jones advised that the interviews performed during
the Vappie investigation were recorded in two separate manners. The first was through the use
of a NOPD body camera. Any recording captured by a body camera was placed into a docking

16 See Exhibit 15, City Attorney News Release dated March 15, 2023.
17 See Exhibit 16, Memorandum of Interview of Johnson dated April 18, 2023.
18 See Exhibit 17, Memorandum of Interview of Jones dated May 3, 2023.
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station and the docking station then uploaded the recording to a server and catalogued the
recording into a program named evidence.com. These recordings can be accessed via any
computer using the evidence.com web portal and a link can be sent to a user allowing access. A
label is affixed to all the recordings that details the date and time of the recording as well as the
name of individual being interviewed. Jones advised he is unsure how the recordings from the
permanently mounted camera inside the interview room are stored. He added that these
recordings are restricted to NOPD PIB users.

According to Jones, the following individuals had access to the recordings created during the
Vappie investigation: (1) himself; (2) Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez; (3) Captain Kendrick Allen; (4)
Consent Decree Monitor Jonathan Aronie; (5) Ann Price; (6) an investigator unknown to Jones;
(7) the Independent Police Monitor Stella Cziment; and (8) Deputy Independent Police Monitor
Bonycle Sokunbi.

Jones has never downloaded any of the Vappie investigation recordings. He advised he does not
know how the recordings ended up in the possession of the City Attorney’s Office. Jones did not
provide anyone with access to any of the investigative files. Jones advised his portion of the
investigation is complete and he is currently assigned to the NOPD 6th District. As such, he no
longer has access to the NOPD PIB systems that house the recordings.

Jones noted that he was not the lead investigator on the Vappie Investigation. Captain Kendrick
Allen was the lead and Jones was assisting. Once Allen was re-assigned from PIB, Jones is unsure
who took over the investigation.

Jones learned of the release of the recordings when he saw the news stories in the media. He is
unsure how the recordings were released.

Jones was asked if it was routine to provide copies of recordings and documents gathered during
investigations to the City Attorney’s Office prior to the completion of the investigation. Jones
stated it depends on the significance and nature of the investigation and was done on a case-by-
case basis. He could not recall a time that he provided records or documents to the City
Attorney’s Office prior to the completion of an investigation.

On May 11, 2023, Beldon Batiste was interviewed by OIG Legal Counsel and an OIG Investigator.
Batiste advised he was the individual who had approached Cziment with the thumb drive
containing the recordings of interviews conducted during the Vappie investigation. Batiste
advised the thumb drive, which was inside a manila envelope, was left in his mailbox at his
residence and was marked PIB Vappie. Batiste stated that he viewed the names of the files
contained on the drive but denied listening to any of the recordings. Batiste was concerned that
recordings of the interviews conducted in the PIB investigation of Officer Vappie were released
to the public. On March 9, 2023, he contacted the OIPM and spoke with Cziment about his
possession of the recordings. Batiste also attempted to contact the FCDM and the Federal Judge
overseeing the Consent Decree without success. When he contacted Cziment, she immediately
wanted to contact Morell. Batiste did participate in a telephone call that discussed Batiste’s
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possession of the recordings with Cziment and Morrell. Batiste then went to the OIPM where he
allowed Cziment to verify and copy the recordings. Batiste advised he also provided copies of the
recordings to the Metropolitan Crime Commission. Batiste then furnished the thumb drive to the
OlG.

On May 11, 2023, W.C. Johnson was interviewed by OIG Legal Counsel and an OIG Investigator.
Johnson refused to answer any questions and asserted his 5" Amendment privilege. Johnson
made this claim to basic background questions such as his address and date of birth. When asked
if it was his intention to continue to claim his 51" Amendment privilege to any and all questions,
Johnson advised that it was his intention. At this point the interview was discontinued. The OIG
has taken legal steps to re-interview Johnson without success.

The OIG received documents and records related to the storage and security of the records NOPD
gathered during the course of the PIB Vappie investigation. A review of the “evidence.com” Audit
Trails provided by the NOPD reveal that there was no access to the recordings contained on the
“evidence.com” access logs from February 8, 2023 until the date the Audit Trails were created
May 17, 2023.

On July 3, 2023, Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez, PIB, was interviewed by OIG Investigators. *°
According to Sanchez, PIB investigators normally use more than one recording device while
conducting interviews at the PIB office. Interviews are recorded by a NOPD-issued Body Worn
Camera (BWC). A BWC captures both audio and video of the interview. Additionally, a hand-held
recorder, which only captures audio, is used to record a second copy of the same interview.

When an interview is conducted outside of the PIB office, a handheld recorder is used to record
audio only. Sanchez was unsure why a BWC is not utilized during interviews outside the PIB office.
He was also unsure of the file format on which the recordings are created. He was not aware of
a PIB policy regarding the storage of recordings created on the hand-held devices. He was not
sure where the recordings from the hand-held devices are stored. The recordings from the BWC
are stored in a software program named evidence.com.

Sanchez was not one of the investigators performing the Vappie investigation and was instead
charged with oversight of the investigation. He did have access to the BWC recordings, as did the
FCDM, and the OIPM. He was unsure who had access to the hand-held recordings and if the hand-
held recordings were stored in a manner that included an audit trail documenting the access of
these files.

Sanchez knew that the City Attorney was provided copies of the recordings obtained during the
Vappie investigation. These recordings were provided to the City Attorney by NOPD Capt.
Kendrick Allen, who was one of the investigators assigned to the Vappie investigation. The City
Attorney and her office are routinely consulted during PIB investigations as well as when the
investigation is complete and routinely provided recordings. Sanchez does not recall receiving a

19 See Exhibit 18, Memorandum of Interview of Sanchez dated July 3, 2023.
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written request for the recordings of the interviews to be provided to the City Attorney. (OIG
Note: During a subsequent interview of Capt. Allen, it was learned that a meeting was held in
Sanchez’s office. This meeting was attended by Sanchez, Allen and the City Attorney. During this
meeting there was a discussion regarding the release of the recordings to the City Attorney’s
Office.)

Sanchez could not recall when he first learned of the release of the recordings outside of the City
Attorney’s Office. It was probably when he received an email from the OIPM regarding the
release or when he saw a news article regarding the release on Fox 8 news.

To his knowledge, no one at PIB was contacted regarding the possible return of the recordings.
Additionally, no one at PIB attempted to recover the recordings.

On July 3, 2023, Captain Kendrick Allen, NOPD, formerly of PIB, was interviewed by OIG
Investigators.2°

Allen advised that he and Lt. Lawrence Jones were assigned to the Vappie investigation. Allen
and Jones operated as co-investigators and conducted interviews together with the exception of
the interview of Capt. Robinette of the Louisiana State Police, which was conducted by Jones.
Allen also advised he left the interview of NOPD Officer Monlyn prior to its completion and Jones
completed this interview on his own.

According to Allen, during the PIB investigation of Officer Vappie and the Mayor’s Executive
Protection Detail (MEPD), Jones used a hand-held recorder to record interviews along with a
BWC. Allen also records the interviews on his cell phone because he is able to easily share the
recordings with other entities.

According to Allen, PIB investigators normally use more than one recording device while
conducting interviews at the PIB office. The interview is recorded by an NOPD-issued BWC which
captures both audio and video of the interview. PIB investigators also commonly use a personally-
owned hand-held recorder to record a second copy of the interview. This recorder only captures
audio of the interview.

Allen is unsure of the recording file format on the hand-held recorders, but assumes the format
is mp3. He stored recordings from the personally-owned hand-held recorder on a Google drive.
According to Allen, this storage method allows him to share the files with the FCDM and the
OIPM.

Allen utilized his personal Google drive during the Vappie investigation. He used this drive due to
the high volume of electronic media created during the investigation. It was impossible to email
most of the files due to their large size. Allen advised he did not want to store the files on a City
computer server. He wanted to ensure the files were not subject to a cyber-attack like the City
experienced in the past. Additionally, he wanted the recordings and documents stored where

20 See Exhibit 19, Memorandum of Interview of Allen dated July 3, 2023
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there was less risk of them being accessed, altered or deleted. The BWC recordings were stored
in a software program known as evidence.com. Allen is unsure if a recording made with a
recorder other than a BWC can be stored within evidence.com.

Allen does know recordings are shared with a third-party transcriptionist who creates a formal
transcript of the interviews. The recording is uploaded to a computer and then sent to the
transcriptionist. Allen is unsure how Jones provided recorded interviews to be transcribed. He
assumes he uploaded them to his computer and sent via email, CD, or thumb drive.

Allen recorded the interviews he participated in on his City-issued iPhone. These recordings are
secondary to the ones captured by Jones and the BWC. Allen synchronized his iPhone to his
computer and the recordings were then stored on a Google drive. These only contain Allen’s
recordings and not the recordings captured by Jones. Allen is unsure where Jones stored his
copies of the recordings from his hand-held recorder.

Allen also stored a copy of the recordings on his City computer in a case specific file folder. Allen
is able to save files to his computer’s c: drive even though City computers have this feature
disabled. The other City computers within PIB are restricted from saving files to the c: drive. The
other City computers are also unable to utilize a USB thumb drive as a result of the cyber
intrusion. Once an investigation is complete, Allen transfers the files to a CD and that CD is placed
into the PIB case folder and he deletes the recordings on the c: drive.

Allen provided copies of the recorded interviews to the City Attorney’s Office. Allen recalled there
was a meeting in Deputy Chief Sanchez’s office attended by Sanchez, the City Attorney and Allen.
During this meeting, it was decided that the City Attorney would be provided copies of the
recorded interviews. Allen is unsure who first discussed this, but Sanchez approved the files being
provided to the City Attorney. Allen copied the files from his Google drive and provided them to
Turner on a thumb drive. Allen did not store copies of the recordings on the hard drive of his
computer. He could not recall the physical description of the thumb drive he gave to Turner.

Neither these files nor the thumb drive was password protected. Allen provided the recordings
to Turner while she was in the PIB office. He is fairly certain the date was February 8, 2023, which
is the date of the second interview of Vappie.

Allen advised it is not unusual to provide the City Attorney’s office with copies of the recorded
interviews and other documents gathered during an investigation. Copies are routinely provided
to the City Attorney’s Office after they make a request. Allen has shared recordings with the
FCDM, OIPM, and City Attorney’s office in the past. Recordings can also be shared via Google
drive by providing them access to the drive.

Allen advised copies of the recorded interviews were provided to the FCDM and the OIPM once
all of the interviews were conducted. Later, an additional interview of NOPD Sgt. Lane was
conducted, although this interview was not originally anticipated.
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Allen is unsure what recordings he provided to Turner. He copied all of the interviews on his
Google drive to the thumb drive he gave to her. Allen advised he would only have copies of the
interviews he recorded on his City-issued iPhone.

Allen advised on page 83 of the PIB policy manual there is a section that allows the sharing of
information and recordings with the outside agencies namely the Orleans Parish District
Attorney’s Office and the United States Attorney’s Office. He is unsure of any specific policy
regarding the storage and safeguarding of recordings and records other than they are required
to be maintained and secured. He feels that files that are saved on a computer that is password
protected are secure.

Allen first heard of the release of the recordings in the news. To his knowledge, the PIB did not
attempt to recover the recordings, nor did they receive an offer to have the recordings returned.
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CONCLUSIONS

The City Attorney asserted that the thumb drive containing the PIB recordings was mistakenly
released to a third party. The OIG was unable to further investigate this assertion because the
alleged recipient of the thumb drive asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-
incrimination and declined to be interviewed. The City Attorney’s Office, which had reason to be
in possession of the recordings to properly respond to potential discipline, did not properly
safeguard sensitive information. The City Attorney routinely receives copies of recordings of
interviews conducted by the PIB. PIB did not use available safeguards to protect and store its
documents. If the recordings or the thumb drive that contained the recordings were password
protected, there may not have been a public release of the recordings.

The NOPD and the City Attorney’s Office neglected to attempt to recover the recordings. Once
these entities learned of the release through the City Attorney’s Office, attempts should have
been taken to recover the recordings. After an individual, W.C. Johnson, was identified as the
probable recipient of the recordings, that individual should have been contacted immediately to
mitigate the potential risk associated with the unauthorized release of information.

The IPM, who actually had possession of the thumb drive, gave the drive back to Batiste, a private
individual, who was not authorized by law to possess the recordings. The IPM should have
attempted to recover the thumb drive since the thumb drive and the recordings contained on it
were City property. The recovery of the thumb drive by the OIPM would have at a minimum,
limited further distribution of the confidential recordings.

The OIPM did not initially cooperate with the OIG as required by City Code Section 2-1120 (20)
and provide the OIG with all available information regarding the release. Confidentiality based
on an agreement between the NOPD and the OIPM, as well as the OIPM Manual, does not grant
the OIPM the ability to withhold pertinent and vital information that falls under the purview of
the OIG.

The IPM used her personal cellular telephone, when sending a text message that contained the
identity of an individual whom she was trying to protect, to conduct official business.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

Access to information and recordings related to investigations should be provided to the City
Attorney’s office solely through evidence.com. This would ensure that an audit trail is created
anytime a recording is accessed. This would also reduce the chance of an inadvertent release, as
well as preserve the integrity of the investigation and the confidentiality of the information.

PIB should establish a record management policy that establishes procedures so that all
interviews are handled in the same manner. All interviews should be recorded by the use of a
BWC as well as a hand-held recorder. No additional recordings should be made in addition to the
BWC and hand-held backup.

PIB should include language regarding the storage of all PIB files in their record management
policy. Electronic files, such as the recording of interviews and documents that contain sensitive
information, should be safeguarded and not stored on personal cloud drives. They should also be
password protected, as should electronic media such as thumb drives containing sensitive
information.

All recordings should be stored on evidence.com to ensure the integrity of sensitive data. If
evidence.com is only able to store recordings from BWC, then PIB should create uniform
procedures and security protocols for the storage of all other recordings. This should include an
up-to-date listing of who has access to all files and an audit trail documenting who has accessed
the recordings.

PIB should have a separate case management system to maintain, store and track all records
related to PIB investigations. A case management system should be a central repository for all
PIB records. Such a system would also allow the tracking and management of investigations while
having the capability of granting access to authorized individuals who need access to specific
information.

The City Attorney’s Office should create an electronic log to document the receipt and release of
any documents from PIB in order to further ensure the protection of sensitive information.

All City employees and departments should share with the OIG pertinent and vital information
within the purview of the OIG, in accordance with City Code Section 2-1120. This should be
conducted on a regular basis in order to reduce the risk of overlapping operations and to ensure
deconfliction. Contacting the OIG regarding an ongoing criminal matter does not compromise the
ongoing investigation.

The OIPM should take steps to obtain the statutory authority to maintain certain information as
confidential and therefore not subject to Public Records Law. The OIPM should also consult with
the OIG for guidance concerning audits, evaluations, and particularly criminal investigations, all
of which the OIPM has no purview.
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The CAO should issue a Policy Memoranda regarding the requirement under City Code Section 2-
1120 (2) that all City employees cooperate fully with the OIG and include the potential penalties
for failure to do so. This includes not only submitting to any requested interviews, but employees
must also fully cooperate and be candid during these interviews.

Additionally, City employees should be remined that the use of personal cellular telephones and
personal equipment should not be used while performing official duties as a City employee. If
City employees elect to use their personal phones for City business, they should be reminded to
comply with CAO Policy Memorandum No. 60(R), Section V, which requires employees to make
their personal phone available to the City for the installation of a mobile device management
application which allows the City the capability to protect City information.

Edward Michel, CIG
Inspector General
City of New Orleans
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CHAPTER: 133 Page 30of b

13. Supervisors shall forward all completed Form Bs to the Personnel Section within three
working days of their receipt.

14. Personnel Section shall upload the document to the member’s personnel jacket within
five working days of receipt.

EMPLOYEE HOME / CELL / DEPARTMENT PHONE NUMBER

15. Empicyees are responsible for notifying their supervisor via the INSIGHT Data
Correction Form immediately upcn obtaining a new home/cell or department telephcne
number. (See Chapter 35.1.9 — INSIGHT).

186. The Early Intervention Unit shall forward a copy of the INSIGHT Data Correction Form
indicating the correction made to the Personnel Division for correction and notation in
the member's paper or hard copy personnel file,

RESIDENCE BOOK

17. Each Bureau/Division/District/Section/Unit within the New Orleans Police Department
shall maintain a residence book on all employees assigned to the unit. The residence
book is a hard copy of the following records, maintained and kept current for each
member assigned to the Bureau/Division/District/Section/Unit. It shall contain the
member’s:

{a) Name;

{b) Domicile;

(c) Home telephone number;

(d) Personal cell number (if the member carries while on-duty); and
(e) Department cell phone number (if assigned).

18. Supervisors are responsible for ensuring his/her subordinates maintain updated records
in the member’'s personnel jacket and for updating the residence book as the infermation
changes.

19. The residence book should be available to all Bureau/Division/District/ Section/Unit
supervisors 24 hours a day, but the information centained in the residence book is
Perscnally Identifiable Information (Pll) and shall be restricted to authorized
Departmental use ONLY. {(See Chapfer 35.1.9 — INSIGHT).

20. Departmental employees are PROHIBITED from releasing personal telephone numbers
to anyone unless authorized by the Director of Personnel or the Superintendent of
Police. (See R.S. 40:2532).

EXEMPTION FOR PIB - INTERNAL INVESTIGATION FILES

21. The internal investigation file is not part of a member's personnel jacket and shall be
maintained under the exclusive control of the Public Integrity Bureau in conjunction with
the office of the Superintendent. Access to these files may only be approved by the
Superintendent or the Deputy Chief of the Public Integrity Bureau.

RELEASE OF INFORMATION

22. No member of this department may disclose private or confidential data without the
written consent of the affected member or written authorization of the Superintendent or
Police or histher designee, except as provided by this policy, pursuant to lawful process,
court order or as required by state law (see generally: La. R.S. 44:3; La. R.S. 44:4(23)).
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CHAPTER: 133 Page 4 of §

PURGING OF FILES

23.

An officer may make a written request to purge from their file any record as specified in
La. R.S. 40:2533(C) or found to be inaccurate by use of the INSIGHT Data Correction
Form. (See: Chapter 35.1.9 — INSIGHT).

BRADY MATERIAL IN PERSONNEL FILES

24.

The purpase of this section is to establish a procedure for releasing potentially
exculpatory informaticn, known as Brady material, which may be contained within
Department personnel jackets.

RELEASE OF PERSONNEL FILES TO THE PROSECUTOR

25.

26.

27.

28.

Generally, the only time the prosecuting attorney {District Attorney, Attorney General or
a grand jury} is entitled to access confidential law enforcement officer personnel files
without filing a court motion is during an investigation of the conduct of an officer of this
department. Such access shall not be considered a waiver of the confidentiality of the
information contained in these files.

Absent a specific investigation of an identified officer or a specific investigation of this
department, or the consent of an involved officer, no confidential information from any
officer's personnel file shall be released to the District Attorney or grand jury without full
compliance with the court process. The prosecution of a criminal defendant is not
considered an investigation of any involved officer,

Should an officer's credibility or other issues related to an officer's personnel file arise in
the context of an officer acting as a witness for the prosecution, access to that officer's
personnel file by either the District Attorney or the criminal defendant shall be limited to
that which is authorized by law or through the process set forth in court and evidentiary
rules (C. Cr. P. 718; Code of Evidence Art. 607).

If an officer is 2 material witness in a criminal case, a person or persons designated by
the Superintendent may examine the subject officer's personnel file to determine
whether there are Brady materials contained therein (e.g., evidence which is both
favorable and material to the guilt and/or punishment of the defendant). If Brady material
is located, the following procedure shall apply:

{(a) In the event that a court motion has not already been filed by the criminal
defendant or other party, the prosecuting attorney shall be nctified of the
potential presence of Brady material in the officer's personnel file.

{b) The prosecutor should be instructed to file a court motion in order to initiate an in
camera review by the court.

(c) As with any court motion, and prior to any review of the files by the court, the
subject officer shall be notified in writing that a court motion has been filed.

(d) The responsible custodian of records shall accompany ali relevant personnet files
during any in camera inspection and address any issues or questions raised by
the court in determining whether or not any material contained in the file is both
material and favorable to the criminal defendant.

{e) If the court determines that there is relevant Brady material contained in the file,
only that material ordered released will be copied and released to the parties
filing the court motion.

{f} Prior to the release of any materials pursuant to this process, the custodian of
records should request a protective order from the court limiting the use of such
materials to the involved case and requiring the return of all copies upon
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completion of the case.
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MEMORANDUM OF INTERVIEW

On April 11, 2023, City Council President J. P. Morrell, was telephonically contacted by Chief of
Investigations Michael J. Centola, City of New Orleans Office of Inspector General. Morrell had provided
Centola with a text message string he had received from Independent Police Monitor, Stella Cziment, on
Apiil 10, 2023. Morrell was asked to provide the telephone number he received the text string from.
Morrell advised it was received from telephone number I

RHH S BV M
23-0004-1 Page 1
investigation on 04/11/2023 Date Prepared 04/11/2023
AlG
DIGI
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